
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA
Tuesday, September 10, 2013

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

2. Prayer

A Prayer will be offered by Councillor DeHart.

3. Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 9

Public Hearing - August 27, 2013
Regular Meeting - August 27, 2013

4. Bylaws Considered at Public Hearing

4.1 Bylaw No. 10882 (Z13-0009) - 4770 Crighton Road, Donald Cowie & Varina
Russell

10 - 10

To give Bylaw No. 10882 second and third readings and be adopted.

4.2 Bylaw No. 10885 (Z13-0028) - 3935 Lakeshore Road & adjacent Bed of Mission
Creek, Braniff Real Estate Services & Ministry of Forests, Land & Natural
Resource Operations

11 - 12

To give Bylaw No. 10885 second and third readings.

5. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the following items on the Agenda
were publicized.

6. Development Permit and Development Variance Permit Reports

6.1 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0062 - 4770 Crighton
Road, David Cowie & Varina Russell

13 - 25

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received. Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.
To consider a Development Variance Permit to increase the site coverage from
10% permitted to 24.2% proposed; to increase the maximum height of the rear



building elevation from 3 storeys permitted, to 4 storeys proposed; and to
permit the construction of a portion of the new dwelling within the viewshed
(Okanagan Sight Line) of the property to the north.

6.2 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0102 - 4316 Hobson
Road, Joseph Karl Huber

26 - 39

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received. Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.
To vary the Okanagan Lake sight line of the established abutting development
to the east from a minimum of 60 degrees required to 34 degrees proposed to
permit the construction of a proposed pergola on the subject property. (See
attached Zoning Bylaw Section 6.11 – Okanagan Lake Sight Lines).

6.3 Bylaw No. 10872 (Z13-0022) - 1369 & 1375 Bertram Street 40 - 40

To adopt Bylaw No. 10872 in order to rezone the subject property from the
RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RM5 - Medium Density Multiple
Housing zone.

6.3.1 Development Permit Application No. DP13-0082 and Development
Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0083 - 1369 & 1375 Bertram
Street, Bertram Townhouses Inc.

41 - 59

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.
Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves
affected by the required variance(s) to come forward.
To consider a Development Permit for the form and character of the
proposed 8 unit row housing development. To consider a
Development Variance Permit to vary the front, side and rear yard
setbacks, the setback from parking and the maximum number of
parking stalls.

6.4 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0123 - 1458 Ethel Street,
Qiuyan Li Holding Inc.

60 - 75

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received. Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.
To consider a request to vary the maximum width of a dormer from 1.2m
permitted to 1.9m proposed in order to construct a carriage house on the
subject property.

7. Reminders

8. Termination



1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: August 16, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Greg Sauer, Land Use Planner 

Application: DVP13-0062 Owner: 
Donald Cowie 
Varina Russell 

Address: 4770 Crighton Road Applicant: Worman Homes 

Subject: Development Variance Permit 

Existing OCP Designation: Single/Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: A1c – Agriculture 1 with Carriage House 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0062, for Lot 2, 
Section 25, Township 28, ODYD Plan 8026, located at 4770 Crighton Road, Kelowna, BC; 
 
AND THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 6.6.2: Height and Grade  
To vary the maximum height of the rear building elevation from 3 storeys permitted to 4 storeys 
proposed as per Schedule ‘A’; 
 
Section 6.11.1: Okanagan Lake Sight Lines  
To vary the requirement that all buildings and structures greater than 1.2 m above natural grade 
permit the adjacent occupants a 120 degree panoramic view (required) to 105 degrees proposed 
as per Schedule ‘A’; 
 
Section 11.1.6(a): A1 Development Regulations  
To vary the maximum site coverage from 10% permitted to 24.2% proposed as per Schedule ‘A’; 
 
Section 11.1.6(b): A1 Development Regulations  
To vary the maximum height of 9.5 metres permitted to 11.02 metres proposed as per Schedule 
‘A’; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Development Variance Permit be issued following staff issuance of a 
Natural Environment Development Permit for the subject property. 
 



14

DVP13-0062 – Page 2 

 
 

AND FURTHER THAT the applicant be required to complete the above noted conditions within 180 
days of Council’s approval of the Development Variance Permit Application, in order for the 
permit to be issued. 

2.0 Purpose 

To consider a Development Variance Permit to increase the site coverage from 10% permitted to 
24.2% proposed; to increase the maximum height of the rear building elevation from 3 storeys 
permitted, to 4 storeys proposed; and to permit the construction of a portion of the new dwelling 
within the viewshed (Okanagan Sight Line) of the property to the north.  

3.0 Land Use Planning Comments 

The redevelopment proposal seeks three variances to zoning regulations.  The first variance seeks 
to increase the site coverage above the permitted 10%.  A large factor in the proposed site 
coverage variance is that the subject property is zoned A1 (non-conforming due to parcel size).  
From a land use perspective, the subject property is more consistent with the RR3 (Rural 
Residential 3) or RU1 (Large Lot Housing) zones which would not require a site coverage variance.  
However, the lack of community water and sewer to this area prevent either zoning and the non-
conforming agricultural zoning will continue.  

As a result of the non-conforming zone, planning staff are not overly concerned with the 
proposed variance though there is recognition that the proposed new dwelling and existing 
structures are quite extensive given the size of the subject property.  That said both the 
Development Engineering Branch and Interior Health have flagged onsite wastewater disposal as 
a potential concern.  The applicants/owners have been advised of this concern and accept the 
risk that the dwelling may not be able to be constructed with the site coverage proposed.  
Planning staff are however satisfied that the Building Permit provides a satisfactory checkpoint to 
ensure that a sewage system can be adequately developed within the remainder of the property 
and that a site coverage variance can be issued. 

A height variance is also being sought.  The zone regulations provide for a height of 9.5 metres or 
2-1/2 storeys, but a general use regulation allows this height to be increased to three storeys or 
12.5 metres when oriented to the rear yard as is the case with the subject property.  The 
regulation speaks to the rear yard elevation.  As proposed, the rear yard elevation is four storeys 
despite the fact that the uppermost storey (above the garage) is stepped back quite considerably 
relative to the three storey dwelling.  Given the large setback and that impacts to the view to 
the hillside from Okanagan Lake are expected to be minimal, staff are prepared to support this 
request. 

The third variance requested relates to the Okanagan Sight Line regulation which only applies to 
properties fronting Okanagan Lake.  The Sight Line regulation satisfies the sole objective of 
protecting the use and enjoyment of lakefront properties.   The regulation typically far exceeds 
the rear yard setback which applies to all properties.   

Planning staff are generally supportive of requests to vary the sight line regulation provided that 
affected property owners have reviewed the development proposal and are willing to accept a 
reduced view relative to what is afforded them.  The proposed sight line variance was a last 
minute design consideration.  Confirmation that the affected neighbour was supportive of the 
proposed development was not available at the time of the authoring of this report.  As such 
staff support for this requested variance is conditional on receipt of this confirmation. 

Overall, staff are supporting the proposed development, including the three variances being 
requested of Council.  While the Riparian Management Area will not conform to current 
regulations, the minor restoration will result in a net benefit, albeit small.  In addition to the 



15

DVP13-0062 – Page 3 

 
 

DVP which must be authorized by Council, a Natural Environment Development Permit (DP) with 
respect to the Riparian Management Area and Hazardous Conditions (i.e. steep slopes) will need 
to be issued at the staff level. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property is a large lot residential (non-conforming) development in an urban/rural 
interface area of Kelowna.  At the top of slope is the principal dwelling which the owners are 
proposing to replace.  A number of other structures including a carriage house, cabanas and 
sheds also exist.  Much of the development is located at or near the toe of slope near Okanagan 
Lake. Some of the development is within the Okanagan Lake Riparian Management Area, but are 
considered to be grandfathered structures.   

As part of the redevelopment the applicants are rezoning to the A1c – Agriculture 1 with Carriage 
House zone to legalize this non-conformity.  Other existing non-conformities (i.e. insufficient 
parcel size, parcel width, location of buildings within the Riparian Management Area) will 
however remain non-conforming following the rezoning and issuance of the variance permit.    

4.2 Project Description 

The applicants are proposing to replace an existing principal dwelling.  The subject property is in 
a sensitive lakeside location with steep slopes thought to exceed 45% in one portion, though the 
proposed development is in a much flatter location near the top-of-slope. 

The redevelopment of the non-conforming A1 property requires a variance to the site coverage 
prior to construction.  Further, the proposed dwelling takes advantage of the hillside topography 
with a three storey walk-out on the western face (permitted for the walk-out portion), but from 
a regulatory perspective, determined to be a four storey structure overall.       

The project compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA A1c ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 40,000 m2 2,460 m2 

 

Lot Width 40.0 m 31.9 m  

Development Regulations 
Site Coverage 10 % 24.2 %  

Height 9.5 m / 2-1/2 storeys 9.45 m / 2-1/2 storeys 

Height (walk-out) 12.0 m / 3 storeys 11.02 m / 4 storeys  

Front Yard 6.0 m 6.09 m 

Side Yard (south) 3.0 m 7.66 m 

Side Yard (north) 3.0 m 3.03 m 

Rear Yard/Carriage House 10.0 m/3.0m 38.19 m/10.4 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 3 stalls 3 stalls 

Private Open Space 30 m2 + 30 m2 

Okanagan Lake Sightlines 120° 105°  

 Indicates an existing non-conformance. 

 Indicates a variance to site coverage regulations is necessary. 

 Indicates a variance to height regulations is required. 

 Indicates a variance to Okanagan Sight Line regulations is required. 



16

DVP13-0062 – Page 4 

 
 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is lakefront, located in the Southwest Mission in a relatively rural, 
agricultural setting with relatively small rural residential lots to the north and south. Adjacent 
land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North A1 - Agriculture Rural Residential 

East A1 - Agriculture Orchard 

South A1 - Agriculture Rural Residential 

West W1 – Recreational Water Use Okanagan Lake 

 

Subject Property Map: 4770 Crighton Road 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies & Guidelines 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Hazardous Condition Guidelines1 

Disturbance of steep slopes and hazardous condition areas will be avoided in accordance with 
City of Kelowna hillside development guidelines. 

Development shall be set back a minimum of 10 metres from the top of ridgelines, cliffs or 
ravines. Variation of the setback may be considered if a geotechnical review can justify a 
reduced setback. 

Require that all development have a level of safety for geotechnical failures with no more than a 
2% probability of failure occurring in a 50 year period (a return period of 1:2,500 years), or 
adhere to the prevailing standard as set by the B.C. Building Code, whichever is greater. The City 
reserves the right to modify this standard to suit the proposed development. 

  

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Hazardous Condition Guidelines (Hazardous Condition DP Chapter). 



17

DVP13-0062 – Page 5 

 
 

 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1. The proposed dwelling is a four storey building; the applicant should refer to the building 
code for defined solutions (i.e. fire separations). 

2. A minimum Geodetic Elevation of 343.66 is required for all habitable spaces. 
3. A Demolition Permit is required for the existing structure. 
4. Geotechnical report and schedules required for any fill that will be placed to support the 

new structure(s). 
5. No floor plans were provided to establish compliance commentary within the proposed 

dwelling structure. We will provide commentary once floor plan drawings are available to 
review. 

6. A full plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

This subject parcel is currently not within the City service area. Domestic water is presently 
supplied by a private lake intake system. Sanitary sewage is presently handled by an on-site 
sewage disposal system. 

On-site servicing will be reviewed by the Interior Health Authority and Building & Permitting. 

Development Engineering recommends that the applicant obtains confirmation from a 
Wastewater Practitioner, that a system can be designed and constructed to accommodate the 
proposed dwelling and existing carriage house prior to issuance of a Development Permit. 

6.3 Interior Health 

See attached. 

6.4 Fire Department 

No concerns. 

6.5 Fortis BC, Gas 

No concerns. 

6.6 Fortis BC, Electric 

There are primary underground electrical distribution facilities along Crighton Road.  The 
applicant is responsible for costs associated with servicing the proposed development as well as 
the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date Application Received: July 9, 2013  
 
Revised Drawings Received: August 15, 2013  
  



18

DVP13-0062 – Page 6 

 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Greg Sauer, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Manager, Environment & Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Shelley Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Interior Health Comments 
Draft Permit Including Schedules 



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: August 16, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate Services (AR) 

Application: DVP13-0102 Owner: Joseph Karl Huber 

Address: 4316 Hobson Road Applicant: Janice Zazula 

Subject: 2013-09-10 Report DVP13-0102 4316 Hobson Rd  

Existing OCP Designation: Single / Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0102, for Lot 
14, District Lot 167, ODYD, Plan 2194, located at 4316 Hobson Road, Kelowna, BC, subject to: 
 
1. The registration of a no build/no disturb Section 219 Restrictive Covenant in favour of the City 
of Kelowna against the title of the subject property under the Land Title Act, to protect the 
Riparian Management Area, measuring 15 m upland from the natural boundary of Okanagan Lake;  
 
AND THAT a variance to the following section of the Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 6.11.1 – Okanagan Lake Sight Lines 
To vary the sight line of the established abutting development to the east from a minimum of 60 
degrees required to 34 degrees provided, as per Schedule ‘A’; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted conditions within 180 
days of Council’s approval of the Development Variance Permit Application, in order for the 
permit to be issued.  

2.0 Purpose  

To vary the Okanagan Lake sight line of the established abutting development to the east from a 
minimum of 60 degrees required to 34 degrees proposed to permit the construction of a proposed 
pergola on the subject property. (See attached Zoning Bylaw Section 6.11 – Okanagan Lake Sight 
Lines).  

  



27

DVP13-0102 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Urban Planning 

 

Urban Planning staff is supportive of the proposed variance to the Zoning Bylaw to accommodate 
the development of the proposed pergola structure on the subject property, as it is anticipated 
to have minimal impact on the views of the east adjacent neighbour at 4310 Hobson Road. The 
pergola structure is designed to be fully open on all sides, with an open trellis roof, so would not 
substantially obscure views. Further, the vegetation on the neighbouring east property, directly 
adjacent to the proposed pergola structure, has grown substantially since 2009 and is sufficiently 
tall and dense that it would largely block the view of any visible portions of the open structure 
(see attached photos).    

The proposed pergola structure encroaches in part on the Riparian Management Area (RMA) 
setback, measured 15 m upland from the Natural Boundary of Okanagan Lake. There is limited 
room in which to move the structure away from the RMA and towards the existing house. In 
addition, the area of the proposed pergola location was previously landscaped under an earlier 
regulatory regime, and thus the partial encroachment of the proposed pergola would not result in 
substantive further disruption. However, to compensate for the encroachment, staff is seeking to 
protect the remaining RMA with a “no build/no disturb” Section 219 Restrictive Covenant to be 
registered under the Land Titles Act against the title of the subject property.  

In accordance with Council Policy 367 – Public Notification & Consultation for Development 
Applications, the applicant has provided notification of the proposed Development Variance 
Permit application to neighbouring properties within 50 m of the subject site. Two neighbours did 
not indicate support for the proposed variance, notably the east adjacent neighbours at 4310 and 
4294 Hobson Road.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In November 2009, Council moved to not authorize Development Variance Permit (DVP) 
Application DVP09-0112, which proposed to vary the sight line of the established abutting 
development to the east from 60 degrees required to 30 degrees proposed, as well as a further 
variance to the side yard setback to reduce it from 2.0 m required to 1.7 m proposed, to 
accommodate a pergola structure. At this time, the construction of the pergola was underway 
without a Building Permit, as the owner had thought it to be a landscape enhancement and not 
subject to permit approvals. The pergola was subsequently dismantled and removed from the 
site. 

4.2 Project Description 

The subject lakefront property presently includes a single-family house, with an in-ground 
swimming pool in the rear yard, and a one-storey pool house sited on the west side of the pool. A 
3.65m x 4.88m (17.8 m2) pergola is again proposed to be sited on the east side of the pool, to 
provide a shaded patio area adjacent to the pool. The applicant has noted that in the intervening 
time since the 2009 DVP application, the vegetation on the east adjacent property has 
substantially grown such that the proposed pergola would have minimal impact on sight lines. 
The proposed structure will also conform to the minimum 2 m required setback from the east 
side property line.  

The proposed pergola will be completely open on all sides. It is comprised of a trellis with four 
supporting columns (0.3 m diameter), with a total height of 3 m. Were the proposed structure 



28

DVP13-0102 – Page 3 

 
 

less than 10 m2 in area, it would be exempt from Building Permit and the Okanagan Line sight 
line requirement.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the North Mission – Crawford area, on the north side of Hobson 
Road, with frontage on Okanagan Lake. The surrounding area is characterized by large residential 
lots with established single-family houses.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North W1 – Recreational Water Use Okanagan Lake 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family House 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family House 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family House 

 

Subject Property Map: 4316 Hobson Road 
 

 

5.0 Technical Comments 

5.1 Building & Permitting Department 

No comment. 

5.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memorandum. 



29

DVP13-0102 – Page 4 

 
 

 

5.3 Fire Department 

No concerns. 

5.4 Environment 

The patio/pergola encroaches within the Riparian Management Area (RMA) of Okanagan Lake 
(The RMA is a 15 m setback from Natural Boundary). The existing patio was built sometime after 
2009 without permits. To compensate for this encroachment the applicant will be required to 
protect the remaining riparian management area with a "no build/no disturb" Section 219 
Restrictive Covenant to be registered under the Land Title Act against the title of the subject 
property. The Riparian Management Area encompasses all the area from the natural boundary of 
Okanagan Lake to 15 m upland. 

6.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received:   July 4, 2013  

Supplementary/Revised Materials Received: August 7 & 16, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Abigail Riley, Urban Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning &  
Real Estate Services 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Context/Site Photos 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Zoning Bylaw Section 6.11 – Okanagan Lake Sight Lines 
Draft Development Variance Permit 



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: August 16th, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AW) 

Application: DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083 Owner: Bertram Townhouses Inc. 

Address: 1369 & 1375 Bertram Street Applicant: Garry Tomporowski Architect Ltd. 

Subject: Development Permit and Development Variance Permit Applications  

Existing OCP Designation: Multiple Unit Residential – Medium Density 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

 
THAT Final Adoption of Zoning Amending Bylaw No. 10872 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Permit No. DP13-0082 for Lot 13, D.L. 
139, ODYD, Plan 2271, located at 1369 Bertram Street and Lot 14, D.L. 139, ODYD, Plan 2271, 
located at 1375 Bertram Street, Kelowna B.C., subject to the following: 
 
1. The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule "A"; 
 
2. The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
3. Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule "C"; 
 
4. The applicant be required to post with the City a Landscape Performance Security deposit  
in the form of a "Letter of Credit" in the amount of 125% of the estimated value of the 
landscaping, as determined by a professional landscaper; 
 
5.       Registration of a plan of subdivision at Land Titles Office to consolidate the two subject 
properties into a single title prior to issuance of the Development Permit; 
 



42

DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083– Page 2 

 
 

AND THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted condition No. 4 within 180 
days of Council approval of the Development Permit application in order for the permit to be 
issued. 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0083 for 
Lot 13, D.L. 139, ODYD, Plan 2271, located at 1369 Bertram Street and Lot 14, D.L. 139, ODYD, 
Plan 2271, located at 1375 Bertram Street, Kelowna, B.C.;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 13.11.6 (d) Development Regulations – Front Yard Setback: 
To vary the front yard setback from 6.0m required to 1.5m proposed. 
 
Section 13.11.6 (e) Development Regulations – Side Yard Setback: 
To vary the side yard setback from 6.0m to 1.5m (northern setback) and 1.5m (southern setback) 
proposed. 
 
Section 13.11.6 (f) Development Regulations – Rear Yard Setback: 
To vary the rear yard setback from 6.0m required to 1.5m proposed. 
 
Section 8.1.10 (d) Parking Regulations – Setback: 
To vary the setback from parking from 1.5m required to 0.5 proposed. 
 
Table 8.1 Parking Schedule: 
To vary parking from 17 stalls maximum permitted to 18 stalls proposed. 

 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Development Permit for the form and character of the proposed 8 unit row housing 
development. To consider a Development Variance Permit to vary the front, side and rear yard 
setbacks, the setback from parking and the maximum number of parking stalls. 

 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Staff are supportive of the proposal, as it is seen to meet the objectives and supporting policies 
of the Official Community Plan (OCP). The subject property is located within the Downtown 
Urban Centre, within close proximity to the commercial core where residential intensification has 
long been anticipated. The proposed development places a clear emphasis on human scale 
buildings that feature strong relationships to both Fuller Avenue and Bertram Street. The 
buildings represent a more European form of development that has been modified to fit within 
the Okanagan context. The finishes are of a high quality, featuring textured stucco cut to 
emulate sandstone. These elevations maintain strong pedestrian orientation, with main building 
entrances and patios. Such design elements serve to activate these building frontages with 
heightened levels of pedestrian activity. Large rooftop decks have been incorporated to provide 
private open space facing the street and site landscaping uses native species, where possible, 
and complements the building design.  



43

DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083– Page 3 

 
 

The proposed variances are required in order to enable the developer to proceed with this form 
of project. The variances will allow for strong urban edges on Fuller and Bertram with each unit 
having front door access to the street. The parking is only visible from the lane as it is hidden 
behind the building which helps to animate the street and create a pedestrian oriented form of 
development. The variances do not present a concern and the form of the project is appropriate 
for this urban centre location. In summary, this project delivers on many aspects of both land use 
and urban design that are encouraged for the Downtown Urban Centre revitalization efforts.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The proposed development consists of a total of 8 - 4 storey row housing dwelling units split 
between 6 – 2 bedroom units and 2 – 3 bedroom units. Principal vehicular access is via the rear 
lane but the 2 – 3 bedroom units have garages facing Bertram Street. Long term bicycle parking is 
provided within individual storage units, and short term bicycle parking is provided near the 
centre of the site adjacent to the visitor vehicle parking. A new sidewalk will be provided along 
Bertram and Fuller. Both frontages provide a strong pedestrian orientation, with main building 
entrances and patios. Such design elements serve to activate these building frontages with 
heightened levels of pedestrian activity.  

The proposed variances are required in order to enable the developer to proceed with this form 
of project. The majority of the variances are setback variances that shouldn’t have a negative 
impact on the surrounding neighbourhood. The recent set of text amendments to the multi-
family zones were intended to create a stronger street edge with ground oriented housing. This 
project would satisfy these regulations if not for the four storey form of development, yet by 
stepping the 4th storey this will limit the massing impact and provide a form of housing similar to 
that anticipated in the zone. Although there are 5 variances they aren’t significant in nature, the 
three building setback variances wouldn’t be required for a 3 storey row housing project.  

The proposal compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RM5 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 

Floor Area Ratio 1.3 1.3 

Site Coverage - Buildings 40% 38% 

Site Coverage – Buildings & 
Drive 

65% 64% 

Height 19.0m / 4.5 storeys 12.3m / 4 storeys 

Front Yard 6.0m 1.5m* 

Side Yard (north) 6.0m 1.5m* 

Side Yard (south) 6.0m 1.5m* 

Rear Yard 7.0m 1.5m* 

Parking Setback 1.5m 0.5* 

Other Regulations 

Minimum Parking 
Requirements 

13 stalls  
13 stalls x 125% = 17 stalls 

max 
18 stalls* 



44

DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083– Page 4 

 
 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 4 stalls 
Class II: 1 stalls 

Class I: 8 stalls 
Class II:10 stalls 

Private Open Space 62m2 per dwelling   25m2 per dwelling   

* To vary the front yard setback from 6.0m required to 1.5m proposed. 

* To vary the side yard setback from 6.0m to 1.5m (northern setback) and 1.5m (southern setback) 

proposed. 

* To vary the rear yard setback from 6.0m required to 1.5m proposed. 

* To vary the setback from parking from 1.5m required to 0.5 proposed. 

* To vary parking from 17 stalls permitted to 18 stalls proposed. 

4.2 Site Context 

Subject Property Map: 1369 & 1375 Bertram Street 

 
The subject properties are located within the Downtown Urban Centre in an area designated for 
a townhouse form of development.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RM5 – Medium Density Multiple housing Apartment Housing 

East RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single Family Housing 

South RM5 – Medium Density Multiple housing Apartment Housing 

West RM5 – Medium Density Multiple housing Apartment Housing 

 



45

DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083– Page 5 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Development Process (Chapter 5) - Considerations in Reviewing Development Applications 

 
Objective 5.8 Achieve high quality urban design. 

 
Streetscaping (Policy 2). Urban Centre roads should be considered as part of the public 
space and streetscaped with full amenities (i.e. sidewalks, trees and other planting, 
furniture, bike facilities, boulevards, etc.). 

 
Ensure opportunities are available for greater use of active transportation and transit 
to: improve community health; reduce greenhouse gas emissions; and increase 
resilience in the face of higher energy prices (Objective 5.10) 
 
Maximize Pedestrian / Cycling Connectivity. Require that pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and infrastructure be addressed in the review and approval of all City and 
private sector developments, including provision of sidewalks and trails and recognition of 
frequently used connections and informal pedestrian routes.  
Transit Infrastructure. Require that transit service needs to be integrated into 
community designs and development proposals to optimize access to transit service and 
incorporate essential infrastructure on transit routes identified. 

 
5.2 Urban Design Development Permit Areas (Chapter 14) – Revitalization Design Guidelines 
 

Objectives 

 Use appropriate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes to 
define area character; 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through high quality urban design that is 
distinctive of Kelowna; 

 Enhance the urban centre’s main street character in a manner consistent with the 
area’s character; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of buildings that promotes an enjoyable living, 
pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

 Encourage an appropriate mix of uses and housing types and sizes; 

 Design and facilitate beautiful public open spaces that encourage year-round 
enjoyment; 

 Create open, architecturally-pleasing and accessible building facades to the street; 
and 

 Improve existing streets and sidewalks to promote alternative transportation. 
 

Guidelines 
Relationship to the Street (Objective 2.0) 

 Ensure streetwall height is proportional (0.75:1 maximum) to the width of the street 
as measured from building face to building face. Any development that exceeds this 
height must utilize a podium and step back above the streetwall; 

 Provide for public movement, street furniture, and building access zones to be 
incorporated into sidewalks adjacent to development; 



46

DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083– Page 6 

 
 

 Design buildings to occupy 100% of a property’s frontage along streets, eliminating 
elements that disrupt the streetwall such as off-street parking, dead spaces, empty 
lots, or driveways; 

 Coordinate building setbacks with adjacent sidewalks to increase the space for public 
use (i.e., utilize a building setback or building indentation as a patio space or seating 
area, incorporate corner rounding into the public realm with specialized paving 
treatment and street furniture); 

 Provide a high quality public realm consistent with the character of urban 
development (i.e. incorporate focal points/plazas, pedestrian pathways, parks and 
open space, enhanced streetscapes, and landscaping). 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Demolition permits are required for any existing building(s). 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s) for new construction. 

 The Architect to provide spatial calculations per BCBC 12 since this may affect the 
form and character of the units if the glazing is required to be reduced or removed 
prior to the release of the Development Permit. 

 Operable bedroom windows required as per the 2012 edition of the British Columbia 
Building Code (BCBC 12). 

 The drawings submitted for Building Permit application are to indicate the method of 
fire separation between suites. This entails how the plumbing and heating system will 
be installed without affecting the fire separation between units. This also includes the 
windows in the west wing units (Studio Level) and the fire separation / privacy wall 
(structural & FRR) 

 Drawings submitted for Building Permit application to indicate the method of venting 
the exterior deck floors above the garages. 

 This is an area with a potentially high ground water table, a geotechnical engineer will 
be required to establish a safe building elevation and safe bearing capacities. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

Satisfied as part of Z13-0022. 

6.3 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City of 
Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900. The Subdivision Bylaw #7900 requires a minimum of 
150ltr/sec fire flows. Additional comments will be required at the building permit 
application. 

6.4 Fortis BC – Gas 

FortisBC gas division has reviewed the above mentioned referral and has no issues or 
concerns 

 



47

DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083– Page 7 

 
 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: May 20th, 2013 
Public Hearing for Zone Amending Bylaw: August 13th, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 
 
 

Reviewed by:   Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

 

Attachments: 

DRAFT Development Permit / Development Variance Permit No. DP13-0082 / DVP13-0083 
Site Plan 
Elevations 
Renderings 
Landscape Plan 
 



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: August 16, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning Department (JM) 

Application: DVP13-0123 Owner: 
Qiuyan Li Holding Inc. (Qian 
Xiang, Qiuyan Li) 

Address: 1458 Ethel Street Applicant: Qian Xiang 

Subject: 2013-09-10 Report DVP13-0123 1458 Ethel St   

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0123, for Lot 3, 
District Lot 138, ODYD, Plan 3748, located on 1458 Ethel Street, Kelowna, BC; 
 
AND THAT variance to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
         Section 6.6.4: Height and Grade 
 
         To vary the maximum width of a dormer from 1.2m permitted to 1.9m proposed. 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider a request to vary the maximum width of a dormer from 1.2m permitted to 1.9m 
proposed in order to construct a carriage house on the subject property.  

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Urban Planning staff are supportive of the proposed variance to the maximum width of a dormer. 
The proposed change results in a significant improvement to the functionality of the carriage 
house design, without compromising the privacy of adjoining properties in the process. Overall, 
the proposed carriage house is consistent in form and character with the existing principal 
dwelling, resulting in a cohesively developed site that respects the surrounding neighbourhood 
context.  

Should this application receive favourable consideration by Council, staff will be bringing forward 
an amendment to the Zoning Bylaw to provide additional flexibility in the regulation of dormers 
for carriage houses. 



61

DVP13-0123 – Page 2 

 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

Dormers are a key element in successfully achieving carriage house designs in Kelowna. The 
maximum height of a carriage house is the lesser of 4.5m or 1 ½ storeys. Combined with 
regulations respecting carriage house size, such as maximum footprints, most carriage house 
designs are forced to split living space between the main floor and a ½ storey above. This upper 
½ storey is typically contained within the peak of a sloped roof. In order to provide functional 
living space in this area, dormers are critical, as illustrated in the applicant’s attached floor 
plans. 

In April of 2013, the Zoning Bylaw provisions respecting dormer width were amended in response 
to some concerns about carriage house massing. Prior to these changes, dormer width was 
limited to 50% of the width of the building face. In some cases, this 50% rule resulted in very 
large dormers that proposed challenges in terms of massing and privacy for neighbouring 
properties. In response to this, the amended provisions for dormer width used the 50% rule and 
further limited dormer development within that 50% by setting the maximum width of any one 
dormer to 1.2m, and allowing only a maximum of 2 dormers per building elevation. At present 
the regulation reads: 

The height of dormers will be measured as if they are the main roof, unless the dormers 
are limited to 2 dormers per elevation, with a maximum width of 1.2m each and a 
minimum 1m separation. The total width of the dormers may not exceed 50% of the 
horizontal width of the building elevation on which they are located. 

While the intention of this regulatory change was to reduce carriage house massing and to ensure 
that carriage houses remain good examples of “sensitive infill”, the 1.2m restriction has proven 
to be challenging in implementation. Specifically, the living space on the upper ½ storey of a 
carriage house is severely hampered by a dormer width of 1.2m.  

Given this challenge, staff will be bringing forward a text amendment to the Zoning Bylaw for 
Council consideration in the near future to provide greater flexibility in dormer width. However, 
in this case, the applicant is not prepared to wait for the conclusion of this amendment process. 

Council Policy No. 367 requires that the applicant undertake Neighbour Consultation in advance 
of the Council meeting. In this case, the applicant has chosen not to fulfill this requirement. In 
support of this position, the applicant has noted that the proposal is very minor in nature, and 
that it will be followed up by a similar bylaw amendment proposal in coming months by City 
staff. 

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to construct a 1 ½ storey carriage house at the rear of the subject 
property. Parking for the carriage house is located in the garage at the main floor level. Living 
space is split between the main floor, which contains the kitchen, living and dining space, and 
the upper ½ storey, which contains two bedrooms and a bathroom.  

In order to accommodate the living space on the upper ½ storey, the applicant is requesting a 
variance from 1.2m permitted to 1.9m proposed. This will allow one of the dormers to be wide 
enough to accommodate a modest full bathroom, while still providing privacy for neighbours. 

Access for the carriage house is taken via the existing lane, and access for the principal dwelling 
will remain off Lawson Avenue. 



62

DVP13-0123 – Page 3 

 
 

While landscaping for the principal dwelling is mostly turf, the landscaping proposed for the 
carriage house will focus on lower maintenance plantings, and a large patio area for residents. A 
fence running north-south is proposed to divide the property and provide the carriage house with 
privacy. 

To provide a detailed assessment of the form and character of the proposed carriage house, a 
Development Permit is required, which will be executed at a staff level.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the northwest corner of the intersection of Ethel Street and 
Lawson Avenue. The lot is approximately 793m2 in area, and presently contains one single 
detached dwelling that is also 1 ½ storeys in height. 

The surrounding neighbourhood is characterized by an older stock of single detached dwellings, 
with multiple examples of carriage houses or secondary suites in the immediate vicinity. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
Single Detached Dwelling with Secondary 
Suite 

East RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
Single Detached Dwelling with Secondary 
Suite 

South RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single Detached Dwelling 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single Detached Dwelling 

 

Subject Property Map: 1458 Ethel Street 

 



63

DVP13-0123 – Page 4 

 
 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU6 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 440 m2 793 m2 

Lot Width 15.0 m 16.46 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m Approx. 48.0 m 

Development Regulations  
Site Coverage (buildings) 40% 25% 

Site Coverage (buildings, 
driveways & parking) 

50% 42.1% 

Principal Dwelling (existing) 
Gross Floor Area - Approx. 194 m2 

Height 9.5 m or 2 ½ storeys Approx. 4.9 m / 1 ½ storeys 

Front Yard 4.5 m 8.54 m 

Side Yard (south) 4.5 m 4.24 m 

Side Yard (north) 2.0 m 3.60 m 

Rear Yard 6.0 m exceeds 

Carriage House 

Height 4.5 m or 1 ½ storeys 4.5 m 

Building Separation 4.5 m 13.9 m 

Side Yard (north) 2.0 m 2.0 m 

Side Yard (south) 4.5 m 6.0 m 

Rear Yard 1.5 m  1.5 m 

Maximum Footprint 90 m2 89.2 m2 

Maximum Gross Floor Area (GFA) 90 m2 89.84 m2 

Max GFA as % of Principal 
Dwelling GFA 

75% 44.7% 

Maximum Dormer Width 1.2m 1.9m 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 3 stalls 3 stalls 

Private Open Space 30 m2 58.1 m2 

 Indicates a requested variance to the maximum width of a dormer from 1.2m permitted to 1.9m proposed. 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

The subject property is designated S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential in the OCP, and is 
situated within the Permanent Growth Boundary in the Central City Sector. 

Development Process 

5.22.6. Sensitive Infill. Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential 
areas to be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighborhood with respect to building 
design, height and siting. 

5.22.7. Healthy Communities. Through current zoning regulations and development processes, 
foster healthy, inclusive communities and a diverse mix of housing forms, consistent with the 
appearance of the surrounding neighbourhood. 

5.22.12. Carriage Houses & Accessory Apartments. Support carriage houses and accessory 
apartments through appropriate zoning regulations. 



64

DVP13-0123 – Page 5 

 
 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 

2) Operable bedroom windows required as per the 2012 edition of the British Columbia 
Building Code (BCBC 12). 

3) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Fire Department 

Requirements of section 9.10.19 Smoke Alarms of the BCBC 2012 are to be met. If a fence is ever 
constructed between the dwellings a gate with a clear width of 1100mm is required. Any gate is 
to open without special knowledge. Additional visible address is required from Ethel Street. 
Emergency access is from the main roadway and not the lane. 

6.3 Shaw Cable  

Shaw cable approves proposed DVP application. 

6.4 Telus Communications 

No comment. 

6.5 Fortis BC 

There are no primary distribution facilities adjacent to the subject property.  The current 
structure appears to be serviced via secondary underground.  Based on the preceding, the cost to 
extend service to the proposed carriage house will likely be significant.  The applicant is 
responsible for costs associated with any change to the subject property's existing service as well 
as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: August 2, 2013 
 
Public Notification & Consultation by Applicant: None 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Urban Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Divisional Director 
     Community Planning & Real Estate 



65

DVP13-0123 – Page 6 

 
 

   

Attachments:   

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan/Landscape Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Floor Plans 
DRAFT Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0125 



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75


	Agenda
	3. Minutes - August 27, 2013 Public Hearing.pdf
	3. Minutes - August 27, 2013 Regular Meeting.pdf
	4.1 bl10882.pdf
	4.2 bl10885.pdf
	6.1 DVP13-0062 Report to Council.docx
	6.1 dvp14-0062 attachments.pdf
	6.2 2013-09-10 Report DVP13-0102 4316 Hobson Rd.docx
	6.2 2013-09-10 Attachments DVP13-0102.pdf
	6.3 bl10872.pdf
	6.3.1 2013-09-10 Report 1369 and 1375 Bertram Street.docx
	6.3.1 2013-09-10 Attachments 1369 and 1375 Bertram.pdf
	6.4 2013-09-10 Report DVP13-0123 1458 Ethel St.docx
	6.4 2013-09-10 Attachments DVP13-0123 1458 Ethel St.pdf

